IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1798

TIMOTHY HURST,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRODY & HAZEN, P.A. Attorneys at Law P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, FL 32317 (850) 942-0005

JEFFREY M. HAZEN Florida Bar No. 0153060

HARRY BRODY Florida Bar No. 0977860

Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 26, 1998, Mr. Hurst was charged by indictment with first-degree murder. (R. 1) Mr. Hurst was tried by a jury in March, 2000. Mr. Hurst was convicted of first-degree murder on March 23, 2000. (R. 448) The same day, after a penalty phase, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 11-1.(R. 450) The trial court held a sentencing hearing on April 17, 2000.(R. 466) The trial court sentenced Mr. Hurst to death on April 26, 2000.(R. 469-89)

This Court affirmed Mr. Hurst's conviction and death sentence on direct appeal. <u>Hurst v. State</u>, 819 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 2002).¹ The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Hurst v. Florida</u>, 123 S.Ct. 438 (2002). Mr. Hurst filed an initial post-conviction motion on October 16, 2003. (PC-R. 273-346) A Huff² hearing was held on February 23, 2004. An

² Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247 (1993).

¹ On direct appeal, Mr. Hurst raised the following issues: 1) The trial court erred in finding the avoid arrest aggravating circumstance because it was never presented to the jury or judge via argument or instruction and because the evidence does not support the existence of the factor; 2) The trial court failed to properly consider and weigh the statutory and non-statutory mitigating circumstances; 3) the death sentence is disproportionate; and 4) imposition of the death sentence in the absence of notice of the aggravating circumstances to be considered or of jury findings on the aggravating circumstances and death eligibility violates due process and the protection against cruel and unusual punishment.

evidentiary hearing was subsequently held June 16-18 and July 9, 2004. At the conclusion of the July, 2004 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Hurst was given until October 1, 2004, to amend his postconviction motion with any additional claims arising from previously undisclosed law enforcement documents.(PC-R. 800-01) Mr. Hurst filed his Supplemental Motion on September 30, 2004.³ (PC-R. 802-25) Mr. Hurst filed a Second Supplemental Motion on January 24, 2005, asserting that the grand jury testimony of trial witness Carl Hess was perjured. (PC-R. 919-33) A Huff hearing was held March 18, 2005. The trial court issued an order summarily denying the first and second supplemental motions on August 17, 2005. (PC-R. 1016-77) Mr. Hurst filed a third supplemental motion to vacate on May 23, 2005.4 (PC-R. 1008-15) Mr. Hurst filed a fourth supplemental motion on September 29, 2005.⁵ (PC-R. 1082-1121) On February 2, 2006, the trial court summarily denied the fourth supplemental motion and, further, held that an evidentiary hearing was necessary as to

³ In that motion, Mr. Hurst also filed a claim that the prosecutor and trial judge engaged in an improper *ex parte* contact. This claim arose from testimony given by prosecutor David Rimmer at the June 2004, evidentiary hearing.

⁴ This motion asserted that jailhouse trial witness Willie Griffin had recanted his testimony that Mr. Hurst confessed to him.

⁵This motion amended the *ex parte* claim contained in Mr. Hurst's first supplemental motion.

the third supplemental motion. (PC-R. 1171-72) An evidentiary hearing was scheduled for March 10, 2006, on the third supplemental motion. (Id.) After a series of motions, hearings, and a proffer regarding the availability of witness Willie Griffin, the trial court summarily denied the third supplemental motion on February 27, 2007. (PC-R. 1300-09) In the same order, the trial court ordered written closing arguments. (Id.) After closing arguments were submitted, the trial court issued a final order denying relief on August 23, 2007. (PC-R. 1398-1541) A timely notice of appeal was filed on September 19, 2007. (PC-R. 1908-09) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

Glenn Arnold was court-appointed by Judge Tarbuck to represent Mr. Hurst. (PC-R. 1928) Larry Smith was hired as the investigator on the case. (PC-R. 1930) Smith performed typical investigation and was responsible for penalty phase issues, including talking to Mr. Hurst and his family. (PC-R. 1930) Smith was "one of the most honest and ethical persons [Arnold] could have possibly hired, and his ability was second to none." (Id.) Smith became the chief investigator with the Escambia County Sheriff's Office (ECSO) after this case. (Id.)

Arnold's theory of the case was that others were involved in committing the murder, primarily Lee Smith and Michael Williams. (PC-R. 1931) Arnold believed that the jail snitches

were helpful to the state, given the circumstantial nature of the case. (PC-R. 1932) Arnold was never informed that Anthony Williams was given a deal for his testimony. (PC-R. 1933)

Arnold did not think the evidence in the case was strong, and, in fact, thought he had won the case. (PC-R. 1935) Arnold stated that he was not informed that David Kladitis had seen two cars and several black males outside Popeye's at approximately 7 a.m. on May 2, 1998. (PC-R. 1936) This information would have been "extremely important" and he "certainly" could have benefited from it. (Id.)

Arnold recalled the prosecutor arguing that Mr. Hurst did not mention going to Wal-Mart in his taped statement. (PC-R. 1940) Arnold had the reports of Buddy Nesmith and John Sanderson. (Id.) Arnold agreed that Nesmith's report appears to reflect that Mr. Hurst told him that he went to Wal-Mart. (PC-R. 1950) Arnold stated that he did not use the reports because the prosecutor argued that Mr. Hurst did not mention Wal-Mart *on the tape*. (PC-R. 1951) Also, Arnold stated that he "didn't want to go into it in detail, and I didn't want to go into the fact that Rimmer was trying to make that argument." (PC-R. 1952) He also did not want to emphasize Mr. Hurst's use of his car. (Id.)

Arnold recalled suggesting, on numerous occasions, that Lee Smith, Jr. (Lee-Lee) was involved in the murder. (PC-R. 1954) Arnold believed Lee-Lee committed the murder in this case. (Id.)

Lee-Lee had not been indicted with any charge at the time of the Hurst trial. (PC-R. 1955) The fact that Lee-Lee was ultimately convicted of a crime in this case would have been important in attacking his credibility. (PC-R. 1956) Arnold was not informed prior to trial that Lee-Lee was going to be indicted, but would have expected to be if a decision to indict had been made. (Id.)

Arnold recalls witness Carl Hess and believes that he "was a liar." (PC-R. 1957) Hess misidentified both Mr. Hurst's car and clothing. (PC-R. 1957-58) Hess lied about being a general manager at Wendy's and interviewing prospective employees. (PC-R. 1959) The fact that Hess has now admitted he never interviewed Mr. Hurst for a job is important and confirms what Arnold believed he established. (PC-R. 1960) Hess' identification of Mr. Hurst was "an absolute lie." (Id.)

Arnold recalls a suspicious black male being observed and possibly detained at the scene, but never identified who the person was. (PC-R. 1962) Arnold doubts he made any attempts to interview Andrew Salter. (PC-R. 1964) Arnold did not feel he should have attempted to speak with Salter. (PC-R. 1965) Arnold thought he "had the case won" and "had the case in a bag." (PC-R. 1968-69)

Arnold had handled one penalty phase prior to the instant case. (PC-R. 1979) Arnold's theory at penalty phase was that Tim was a good boy who was slow, but who helped in the community

and at church. (PC-R. 1980) Arnold does not recall any discussions with the public defender who handled Mr. Hurst's case prior to him. (PC-R. 1981) Arnold did not have "very much" mitigation. (PC-R. 1982) Arnold stated that he had a discussion with Mr. Hurst and that Mr. Hurst did not want to be examined by a psychologist and, coupled with the fact that Arnold "hadn't seen anything," Arnold told Judge Tarbuck that a mental health expert was not necessary. (PC-R. 1983) Arnold did not talk to a psychologist about the case or have Mr. Hurst examined. (PC-R. 1985) Arnold did not recall his specific conversation with Mr. Hurst, but "under today's law" he would have filed a motion to have Mr. Hurst examined. (Id.) In hindsight, Arnold feels like Mr. Hurst should have been examined. (PC-R. 1986) Arnold felt like presenting psychological testimony would have hurt his credibility with the jury, given the theory of defense at guilt phase. (Id.) Arnold was aware of the statutory mental health mitigating factors. (PC-R. 1989) Arnold suggested that a memo of his conversation with Mr. Hurst as to not using a psychologist should be in his file. (PC-R. 1991) Arnold did not think Mr. Hurst was mentally ill. (PC-R. 1994) Arnold is "almost certain" that he had a conversation with Larry Smith about Mr. Hurst not wanting to use a psychologist and believes Smith wrote him a memo to that effect. (PC-R. 1995) Arnold agreed that he did not have the informed opinion of a mental

health expert. (PC-R. 1997) Arnold does not recall being aware of the fact that Mr. Hurst's mother was 15 years old when she gave birth to him. (PC-R. 1999) However, Arnold stated that "we pretty much weeded out that stuff and went with the good stuff." (PC-R. 2001) Arnold was not aware that Mr. Hurst's mother had abused alcohol when she was pregnant. (PC-R. 2002) Arnold was not aware that Mr. Hurst had been taken as a child by HRS. (PC-R. 2003) Arnold believed that Mr. Hurst was a follower, not a leader. (PC-R. 2005)

Dr. Valerie McClain is a licensed clinical psychologist. (PC-R. 2013) Dr. McClain conducted an evaluation of Mr. Hurst, including a psycho-social interview. (PC-R. 2019-20) Mr. Hurst was a below average student who was placed in special education. (PC-R. 2021) Testing revealed that Mr. Hurst reads at a 4th grade level and does arithmetic and spelling at a 5th grade level. (PC-R. 2022) Mr. Hurst was not malingering. (PC-R. 2023, 2026) Mr. Hurst's I.Q. score was at 70, with a confidence range of 67 to 75. (PC-R. 2024) This is in the borderline range of intellectual functioning. (Id.) Mr. Hurst exhibited deficits in memory and verbal fluency. (PC-R. 2025) Dr. McClain interviewed Mr. Hurst's mother, father, and sister. (PC-R. 2027) The parents indicated that Mr. Hurst had academic problems and had been placed in special education. (Id.) His mother stated that she drank heavily during her pregnancy with Tim. (Id.) His

sister said that Tim was a follower, rather than a leader. (PC-R. 2028) Mr. Hurst has below average adaptive functioning skills. (PC-R. 2029) This may have been the result of speech and language problems, and possibly fetal-alcohol issues. (PC-R. 2030) Dr. McClain could not make a medical diagnosis of fetalalcohol syndrome. (Id.) Mr. Hurst's neuro-psychological tests suggested brain damage, which is consistent with fetal-alcohol syndrome. (PC-R. 2031) Mr. Hurst suffers from depression. (PC-R. 2032) Mr. Hurst was in the mentally deficient to borderline range of intelligence. (PC-R. 2033) Mr. Hurst's I.Q. is significantly below average. (PC-R. 2035) Mr. Hurst's academic performance was below average and he only completed the 10th grade. (Id.) He repeated 10th grade twice. (PC-R. 2036) Mr. Hurst has a learning and cognitive disorder. (PC-R. 2039) Mr. Hurst, based on testing and history, suffers from brain damage. In Dr. McClain's opinion, the brain damage is a result of (Id.) Mr. Hurst's mother's drug and alcohol use at gestation. (PC-R. 2040) The substantial impairment and duress statutory mitigating circumstances apply to Mr. Hurst. (PC-R. 2043-44)

On cross-examination, Dr. McClain stated that there was no prior psychiatric treatment for Mr. Hurst. (PC-R. 2052) Dr. McClain did not find Mr. Hurst to be mentally retarded. (PC-R. 2057) Mr. Hurst received a wide variety of academic grades in school, from A to F. (PC-R. 2060)

Dr. James Larson is a clinical psychologist. (PC-R. 2069) Based on Dr. Larson's testing, Mr. Hurst scored a verbal I.Q. of 78 and a performance I.Q. of 83. (PC-R. 2084-85) The full-scale I.Q. is 78, in the borderline range of intelligence. (PC-R. 2086) Dr. Reibsame scored Mr. Hurst's I.Q. at 78. (PC-R. 2089) Dr. Larson, as well as Doctors Reibsame and McClain, found Mr. Hurst to have borderline intellectual functioning. (PC-R. 2091) Mr. Hurst's academic records demonstrated him to be below average. (PC-R. 2122) Mr. Hurst is not mentally retarded. (PC-R. 2133)

On cross-examination, Dr. Larson stated that he was aware Mr. Hurst's mother drank and used drugs while pregnant with him. PC-R. 2169) This could cause brain damage and fetal alcohol syndrome. (Id.) Dr. Larson agreed that Mr. Hurst is slow and has mental problems. (PC-R. 2170) Dr. Larson's history noted that Mr. Hurst's mother drank too much and his father "whipped [him] too much." (PC-R. 2177) He did not know of any mental illness in his family. (PC-R. 2179) He dropped out in high school. (Id.)

Anthony Williams testified that he is currently incarcerated for armed robbery and previously testified at Mr. Hurst's trial. (PC-R. 2188-89) Williams was Mr. Hurst's cellmate. (PC-R. 2189) Williams testified that Mr. Hurst confessed to him. (PC-R. 2190) Williams testified at the

evidentiary hearing that Mr. Hurst never confessed to him. (Id.) Mr. Hurst never told Williams anything about his involvement in this case. (PC-R. 2191) Williams talked with prosecutor David Rimmer prior to the Hurst trial and told Rimmer that Mr. Hurst confessed to him. (PC-R. 2191-92) The day before his testimony, Williams told Rimmer that he did not want to testify. (Id.) Rimmer told Williams to "do the right thing" and he would be taken care of in the long run. (Id.) Williams expected leniency when he testified. (Id.) Williams testified against Mr. Hurst because he was looking for some help on his case. (PC-R. 2192-93) Williams stated that this "happens all the time in jail." (PC-R. 2193) Williams' direct appeal is still pending. (PC-R. 2134) Williams lied in his testimony at Mr. Hurst's trial and did so expecting leniency in his case. (Id.)

On cross-examination, Williams stated that he has several felony convictions. (PC-R. 2196) Williams has a life sentence. (PC-R. 2197) Mr. Hurst's trial was before Williams was sentenced. (PC-R. 2198) Williams testified at trial that Mr. Hurst confessed to him. (PC-R. 2201) Williams committed perjury at trial. (PC-R. 2207) Williams is testifying truthfully now because he "can't go through life knowing [he] committed wrongs against others." (Id.) Williams told David Rimmer before his testimony that he "couldn't do this." (PC-R. 2209)

Larry Smith testified that he is currently the Chief Deputy

with ECSO. (PC-R. 2228) Prior to that, Smith was a private investigator with his own business. (Id.) Previous to that, Smith worked for FDLE for 29 years, where he was in charge of field operations in Pensacola. (Id.) Smith worked on the Hurst case for Glenn Arnold. (Id.) As part of his investigative work, Smith was never informed that David Kladitis was at Popeye's restaurant on the morning of May 2, 1998, and saw 3-4 black males outside the restaurant. (PC-R. 2234) Smith did not believe that Mr. Hurst had the time or physical ability to do the things that had been alleged as part of the robbery-murder. (PC-R. 2235-36) Smith believes there were other individuals involved in the murder. (Id.) Smith recalls a report of an unidentified black male being at the scene. (Id.) Smith never spoke with him. (PC-R. 2238) Smith interviewed Timothy Hurst at length for mitigation purposes. (Id.) Smith never had a conversation with Mr. Hurst about the use of a psychologist. (PC-R. 2239)

Lee-Lee Smith testified at the trial in this matter and ultimately was charged as an accessory after the fact. (PC-R. 2252) Smith was informed and charged after Mr. Hurst's trial. (PC-R. 2253) At the time of Mr. Hurst's trial, the state had told Smith that he would be charged. (PC-R. 2254) Smith then stated that the prosecutor told him he would be charged "after the trial or during the trial, I don't remember." (PC-R. 2255)

Andrew Salter testified that he lived in Pensacola in 1998. (PC-R. 2257) He was in the area of Popeye's on the morning the murder happened. (PC-R. 2258) Salter woke up that morning around 5:30 and walked to Wendy's, which was directly across from Popeye's, where he was to meet a man he was supposed to work for. (Id.) He waited there for an unknown amount of time. (Id.) He eventually went to Winn-Dixie, which is in the same parking lot, and bought chocolate milk. (Id.) Salter did not see any cars in the Popeye's parking lot, but did recall seeing the delivery truck. (PC-R. 2259) He saw the delivery driver after he had gone home and come back to get his chocolate milk. When Salter came back out of Winn-Dixie, law enforcement (Id.) was on the scene. (Id.) Salter told an officer he had been there at 5:30. (Id.) He was in the parking lot for $1\frac{1}{2}$ -to-2 hours. (PC-R. 2260) Salter did not see any Popeye's employees. Salter was ultimately questioned by law enforcement about (Id.) his presence in the area. (Id.) He gave them prints. (PC-R. Salter did not see Timothy Hurst or a large blue Marquis 2261) there that morning. (Id.) Salter saw the guy who takes out the trash at Wendy's. (Id.) No one representing Mr. Hurst talked to Salter at the time of trial. (Id.)

On cross-examination, Salter testified that he saw the delivery driver when he came out of Winn-Dixie. (PC-R. 2263) Salter was in Winn-Dixie less than 10-15 minutes. (Id.) Salter

did not recall seeing the driver when he went into Winn-Dixie. (PC-R. 2264) Salter was not sure of the exact time he was waiting on the man he was to work for. (PC-R. 2265)

Eunice Smith is Lee-Lee's mother. (PC-R. 2271) Eunice was present when the state attorney came and spoke to her son about charging him. (Id.) This was before the Hurst trial. (Id.) Lee-Lee was charged with accessory after the fact and the charge was adjudicated in juvenile court. (Id.) He is now done with probation. (PC-R. 2272) The state attorney, Mr. Rimmer, "let us know that he was going to be charged." (Id.) Rimmer told Lee-Lee that he wanted him to be a witness in the Hurst case. (Id.) Both Eunice and Lee-Lee were present for this conversation. (PC-R. 2273)

John Sanderson is an investigator for the state attorney and was an investigator for ECSO in 1998. (PC-R. 2282) He assisted in the investigation of the Hurst case. (Id.) Buddy Nesmith was the lead investigator. (Id.) Sanderson identified a copy of his supplemental report in this case. (PC-R. 2283, Defense Exhibit 7) Sanderson wrote in his report that he learned from Nesmith that Mr. Hurst went to Wal-Mart on the morning of the murder. (Id.) According to his report, Nesmith got the information "from Timothy Hurst." (PC-R. 2285) Sanderson does not have a recollection of the conversation with Nesmith. (PC-R. 2286) Sanderson reviewed his report prior to

the evidentiary hearing. (PC-R. 2290) Sanderson tries to be accurate in his reports. (PC-R. 2293) His report was turned over in discovery. (Id.) Sanderson does not "necessarily" believe there is anything inaccurate in his report. (PC-R. 2305) Sanderson was not questioned at trial about the Wal-Mart purchase. (PC-R. 2312) The report was made within a couple days of the conversation with Nesmith. (Id.) In talking with Sanderson recently, Nesmith did not remember the conversation with Sanderson, except for the sole fact that Mr. Hurst did not mention Wal-Mart. (PC-R. 2319) In their recent conversation, Nesmith suggested that the Wal-Mart information came from Lee-Lee Smith. (PC-R. 2332)

David Rimmer was the prosecutor in the trial of this case. (PC-R. 2355) Rimmer told the jury that Mr. Hurst did not mention Wal-Mart in the taped interview. (PC-R. 2357) Rimmer asserted that Nesmith's statement to Sanderson that Mr. Hurst said he went to Wal-Mart "was an error." (PC-R. 2358) Rimmer was aware of Sanderson's report. (Id.) Rimmer stated that he was under no obligation to correct the "error." (PC-R. 2361) Rimmer agreed that Nesmith's report says that Mr. Hurst told him he went to Wal-Mart. (PC-R. 2366) This was "erroneous" so Rimmer ignored it. (PC-R. 2368) Mr. Hurst's recorded statement was taken at 2:58 p.m., but he was at the sheriff's office for seven hours according to Nesmith's testimony. (PC-R. 2271) Rimmer conceded

that Nesmith may have told Sanderson that Mr. Hurst told him that he went to Wal-Mart. (PC-R. 2372) Rimmer was aware that Mr. Hurst was with Nesmith for approximately seven hours the day of the taped interview. (PC-R. 2284) Rimmer never spoke with Nesmith, prior to trial, regarding the "error" in his report. (PC-R. 2392)

Rimmer was familiar with the police reports and attended the depositions of the detectives. (PC-R. 2403) He reviewed the same for trial preparation. (Id.) Rimmer did not feel dutybound to disclose discrepancies in either police reports or depositions. (PC-R. 2404) He did not feel there was any conflicting information regarding the Wal-Mart statement. (Id.)

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