# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY LEE HURST, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

Case No. SC07-1798

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

In contrast, ex parte submitting or reviewing significant orders concerning the complaining defendant are forbidden. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>State</u>, 840 So.2d 962, 968 (Fla. 2002) (motion to disqualify legally sufficient; judge had asked the State to draft the sentencing order and had failed to independently weigh the aggravators and mitigators).

In this case, Judge Tarbuck's inquiry focused solely upon Lee-Lee Smith. He did not indicate anything about Hurst's culpability or sentencing. At most, it is speculative concerning whether Tarbuck was even indicating anything at all about **Smith's** culpability.

Indeed, even where a circuit judge presides over accomplices' cases, communications in those cases do not per se constitute improper ex parte communications concerning non-present parties. <u>See Kokal v. State</u>, 901 So.2d 766, 774-75 (Fla. 2005) (capital case; "fact that Judge Carithers had previously determined that O'Kelly was being truthful in the Kight action is not a legally sufficient ground for disqualification"). <u>See also Jackson</u> v. State, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992) (affirming summary denial of motion

to disqualify that argued same judge had previously heard the evidence in five previous trials).

<u>Arguendo</u>, even if Judge Tarbuck was suggesting that Smith should be charged with something, such a suggestion would have merely indicated that, in the Judge's opinion, the Smith bore some sort of culpability for this murder, which was consistent with what Hurst's defense advocated as its position.

Most importantly, Judge Tarbuck testified at his deposition that he "absolutely" did not ever have any ex parte communications concerning the Hurst case. This claim is less than speculative and thereby woefully less than facially sufficient. See Connor v. State, 979 So.2d 852, 867 (Fla. 2007) ("absence of a notation in the record is not sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the defendant was absent at any particular point"); Rodriguez v. State, 919 So.2d 1252, 1269 (Fla. 2005) ("Rodriguez offers nothing more than such 'speculative assertions' in the face of direct testimony that refutes his claim that the State drafted his sentencing order"); Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160, 1168-1171 (Fla. 2005)(during penalty phase Judge questioned plea offer; "statement concerning the timing of a plea offer"; "nothing in the statement that indicated bias or prejudice against Mansfield"); Waterhouse v. State, 792 So.2d 1176, 1192, 1195 (Fla. 2001) (prior to re-sentencing defendant, "Sentencing Judge, Robert E. Beach, commented that the subject is a dangerous and sick man and that many other women have probably suffered because of him"; "comment to the Commission did not constitute a prejudgment of any pending or future

motions that the defendant might file"). <u>See also Tompkins v. State</u>, 872 So.2d 230, 245 (Fla. 2003) ("Although we do not condone the ex parte communication, we conclude that under the circumstances of this case, which we here set out in detail, Tompkins is not entitled to a new penalty phase because he has not demonstrated that he was denied his right to a neutral, detached judge or that Judge Coe failed to independently weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances").

## D. Carl Hess's Grand Jury Testimony.

Hurst's Second Supplemental postconviction motion alleged (PCR/V 921-27) that Carl Hess lied to the grand jury about interviewing Hurst and the prosecution knew it; he attempted to invoke <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1991).

As an important preliminary matter, the State disputes any suggestion (<u>See</u> IB 89) that Hess recanted his positive identification of Hurst at Popeye's the morning of the murder. He positively identified Hurst in a photospread (TT/II 305; TT/III 517-18), he positively identified Hurst at trial (TT/II 305-306), and there is no indication that Hess has recanted those identifications (<u>See</u> PCR/V 785-87). <u>See also</u> discussion of Hess in ISSUE II supra.

Hurst's written postconviction claim went on for pages and mentioned Hess's pre-trial deposition to attempt to argue the falsity of Hess interviewing Hurst, but he failed to mention to the trial court the excerpt that he now (IB 90) presents to this Court quoted in bold typeface and then discusses. Further, at the <u>Huff</u> hearing counsel expressly disavowed

reliance upon Hess's deposition for this claim. (See PCR/VI 951-52) As such, this appellate reliance was unpreserved and cannot be used here. Hurst requests that this Court second-guess a trial court decision on a matter not presented to the trial court. See, e.g., Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005) (three components for "proper preservation"; "purpose of this rule is to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings'"); Gore v. State, 706 So.2d 1328, 1334 (Fla. 1997) (argument below was not the same as the one on appeal); Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989) ("constitutional argument grounded on due process and Chambers was not presented to the trial court ... procedurally bars"); U.S. v. Taylor, 54 F.3d 967, 972 (1st Cir. 1995) ("raise-or-waive rule prevents sandbagging"). Indeed, because counsel expressly disavowed reliance upon Hess's deposition, reliance upon the deposition on appeal was affirmatively waived. See State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("The only exception [to fundamental error] we have recognized is where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the incomplete instruction"), citing Armstrong v. State, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1991).

Moreover, if Hess's deposition is considered, it was taken on September 14, 1998, (PCR/V 871), prior to the March 2000 trial, and trial defense counsel's hammering at trial Hess's role at Wendy's as not a formal job interviewer (<u>See</u> TT/II 306-312; TT/IV 746-48) indicates that this claim could have and should have been raised on direct appeal, procedurally barring it here. <u>See Evans v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 92, 101 (Fla. 2001) (<u>Anderson</u> claim unpreserved). <u>See also</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 1610 (Fla. 2008) ("any complaint regarding the trial court's response to this objection should have been raised on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred"), <u>citing Pooler v. State</u>, 980 So. 2d 460, 470 (Fla. 2008), <u>citing Spencer v. State</u>, 842 So.2d 52, 60-61 (Fla. 2003).

Moreover, <u>Evans</u>, 808 So.2d at 102, alternatively denied the claim and discussed <u>Brookings v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 135, 137 (Fla. 1986), in terms of trial defense counsel exploring the witness's inconsistencies through cross-examination at trial. Further, as <u>Evans</u> points out, the defendant must show "deliberate subornation, that is, that the "the State ... knowingly present false testimony to the grand jury." Hurst's self-serving inferences are insufficient. Therefore, the trial court's finding (PCR/VIII 1458) that Hurst failed to show the State knowingly offered false evidence to the grand jury is correct.

Further, any indication by Hess that he testified about interviewing Hurst does not establish that he lied to the grand jury. He does not indicate in the deposition what he means by "interview," which could simply mean that Hess gave Hurst an application and Hurst returned with it, as Hess testified at the postconviction hearing. (See PCR/VIII 787)

But more importantly, when Hess was plainly asked to focus on the grand jury (Id.), he clearly denied that he testified to the grand jury about

89

interviewing Hurst, and the trial court accredited this testimony (PCR/VIII 1458-59). $^{15}$ 

## E. Willie Griffin.

Willie Griffin was among the witnesses, such as Michael Williams (TT/II 321-22), who testified that Hurst admitted to killing the victim (TT/II 365). Willie Griffin testified at trial that Hurst told him: "I did that swine, and 'F' the rest of them." Hurst said that "I did that, and I don't care nothing about the rest of it." Hurst also said that he did not get along with the victim. Griffin also testified at trial that he asked for assistance from the prosecution, but the prosecutor did not return his (Griffin's) phone call. (TT/II 365-66)

Indeed, Michael Williams testified to details that Hurst admitted to cutting the victim with a box cutter, tying her up, and putting her in the freezer. Hurst laughed. Hurst said that he cut up the victim because he did not want the victim to see his face. As this Court's opinion summarized, the State's evidence also included evidence such as Hurst's fingerprint on the deposit slip, a few days prior to the murder Hurst's possession of a box cutter resembling the apparent murder weapon, his coming into some money, his omission of mentioning Wal-Mart to the police, his lie about not being at the Popeye's that morning, Hurst being positively identified at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Perhaps Hess discussed the "interview" with someone while he was at the grand jury but did not testify to the grand jury about it.

the Popeye's,<sup>16</sup> Hurst's car closely following the victims towards the Popeye's, the revival of Hurst's car to run errands the day of the murder conflicting with his story that his car-breakdown precluded him from arriving at the Popeye's that day, and Hurst's car containing tape like the tape used on the victim.

In the face of all of the incriminating evidence, Hurst suggests that it should make a difference in these proceedings that Willie Griffin told someone that he will recant a portion of his trial testimony. Thus, even Griffin's postconviction affidavit, while denying that Hurst said "I did that swine," states that Hurst said "Fuck that swine." His affidavit continues by stating that his testimony was entirely based on "emotion" and what he had been told by the State and law enforcement (PCR/VII 1298-99), but he did not specifically deny that Hurst said "I did that" and that Hurst said that he did not get along with the victim. Moreover, to the credit of Hurst's postconviction counsel, his affidavit states that when he first talked with Griffin, Griffin said he "regrets" his trial testimony but, "Griffin did not state that his testimony against Mr. Hurst was false." (PCR/VII 1292) (See also additional background at PCR/VII 1222-49)

Even if Griffin had appeared in Florida and recanted to the degree he stated in his affidavit, it would have made no difference whatsoever in the outcome of this case. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Green v. State</u>, 975 So.2d 1090, 1101 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Hurst's allegation that Hess "recanted" stretches his argument much too far. There has been no showing that Hess has wavered from identifying Hurst as at the Popeye's the morning of the murder.

2008) ("when weighed against the other admissible evidence, the recantations of Jerome Murray, Sheila Green, and Lonnie Hillery do not create a reasonable probability of acquittal on retrial").

Under these circumstances, the trial court's order merits affirmance:

\*\*\*

Defendant's postconviction counsel asserted that the only way he would be able to obtain Griffin's presence for the evidentiary hearing was if the State would submit paperwork pursuant to the Interstate Act of Detainers. The State objected to accepting responsibility for procurement of Defendant's witness. Defendant then filed a motion to perpetuate Griffin's testimony, or in the alternative, to compel the State to assist Defendant in procuring Griffin. [fn87] The State filed its objections. [fn88]

The Court denied Defendant's motion regarding the perpetuation of Griffin's testimony for several reasons. First, Defendant failed to specifically allege, or attach documentation, regarding the purported content of Griffin's testimony. This Court concludes that perpetuation was not justified in light of the speculative nature of Defendant's pleading. Additionally, this Court is not convinced that Griffin could have been held accountable for his proposed deposition testimony. While the Court does not assume that Griffin would have necessarily been motivated to testify falsely, there is also no suggestion that Griffin would have been motivated to tell the truth, as he would not have been properly subject to potential perjury charges.<sup>17</sup> As to Defendant's suggested alternative of compelling the State's assistance in procuring Griffin, this Court agrees with the State that it should not have to be responsible for retrieving Defendant's witnesses. The Court finds that the State's participation in obtaining Griffin's presence before this Court would have amounted to more than a 'ministerial act.' Consequently, Defendant's motion to perpetuate testimony was denied in its entirety. [fn89]

As this claim now stands, the Court has nothing but the bare allegations of Defendant to support this claim. Defendant has failed to present any reliable admissible evidence regarding the recantation of Griffin. [fn90] Consequently, Defendant's claim must fail.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 17}$  However, an argument can be made that perjury may apply through conflicting sworn statements.

fn87. See Attachment 7, 'Affidavit and Motion to take Deposition to Perpetuate Testimony or, in the Alternative, to Compel the State of Florida to Assist in Procurement of Witness Attendance,' February 27, 2006.

fn88. See Attachment 8, 'Suggestions in Opposition to Defendant's "Affidavit and Motion to Take Deposition to Perpetuate Testimony or, in the Alternative, to Compel the State of Florida to Assist in Procurement of Witness Attendance,' March 3, 2006.

fn89. See Attachment 9, 'Order on Status Conference Held April 27, 2006,' April 28, 2006.

fn89. Defendant attempted to supply the affidavit of Griffin, and proposed that testimony from postconviction counsel for Defendant, and counsel's investigator would be admissible evidence regarding this claim. However, this Court found the affidavit and the proposed testimony of counsel and the investigator to be inadmissible as hearsay. See Attachment 10, Order denying Defendant's proffer of evidence, vacating and setting aside order granting evidentiary hearing, and setting closing arguments, February 28, 2007.

Further, recognizing that the trial court merits affirmance if correct

for any reason, requiring the executive branch to produce Green through its executive functions would violate Florida's separation of powers provisions. <u>See</u> Art. 5 §17, Fla. Const.; <u>State v. Cotton</u>, 769 So.2d 345 (Fla. 2000) ("strict separation of powers doctrine"; "State's broad, underlying prosecutorial discretion"). <u>See also Office of State Attorney v.</u> <u>Parrotino</u>, 628 So.2d 1097, 1099 n. 2 (Fla. 1993) ("judicial attempt to interfere with the decision whether and how to prosecute violates the executive component of the state attorney's office").

Again recognizing that Hurst is appealing a trial court order that merits affirmance if correct for any reason, also see authorities and reasoning at PCR/VII 1222-32.

#### ISSUE VI: HAS HURST SHOWN COGNIZABLE CUMULATIVE ERROR? (RESTATED)

The State respectfully submits that there is no error to accumulate in

this case.

Further, even if there had been some error somewhere, the case against Hurst was not close. It was overwhelming. <u>See</u> Statement of Facts <u>supra</u>, facts summarized immediately prior to ISSUE I, HAC aggravator and testimony supporting it (<u>E.g.</u>, TT/IV 653-73), and discussion of incriminating evidence in ISSUE V.E <u>supra</u>. Any error is inconsequential. The trial court's denial of postconviction relief merits affirmance. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Bell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 965 So.2d 48, 75 (Fla. 2007) ("where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail"), <u>citing Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of postconviction relief in all respects.